IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 22-0385

ENVIRONMENTAL LAW AND POLICY CENTER, IOWA ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL and SIERRA CLUB, Petitioners-Appellants

v.

IOWA UTILITIES BOARD, Respondent-Appellee,

and

MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY, Intervenor-Appellee

and

OFFICE OF CONSUMER ADVOCATE Intervenor.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HON. SAMANTHA GRONEWALD, Judge

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

/s/ Joshua T. Mandelbaum
Joshua T. Mandelbaum
(AT0010151)
Environmental Law & Policy Center
505 5th Avenue, Suite 333
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
P: (515) 244-0253
jmandelbaum@elpc.org
ATTORNEY FOR ENVIRONMENTAL
LAW AND POLICY CENTER

/s/ Michael R. Schmidt

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the District Court Erred by Failing to Interpret Iowa Code § 476.6(19) Consistent with the Principles of Statutory Construction.

Cases

Evercom Sys., Inc. v. Iowa Utils. Bd., 805 N.W.2d 758 (Iowa 2011)

Gulf States Utilities Co. v. Louisiana Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 578 So. 2d 71 (La. 1991)

Hawkeye Land Co. v. Iowa Utilities Bd., 847 N.W.2d 199 (Iowa 2014)

Iowa Ins. Inst. v. Core Group of Iowa Ass'n for Justice, 867 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2015)

Mathis v. Iowa Utils. Bd., 934 N.W.2d 423 (Iowa 2019)

NextEra Energy Resources, LLC v. Iowa Utils. Bd., 815 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 2012)

Ramirez-Trujillo v. Quality Egg, LLC, 878 N.W.2d 759 (Iowa 2016)

Renda v. Iowa C.R. Comm'n, 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Davis, 922 N.W.2d 326 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Doe, 903 N.W.2d 347 (Iowa 2017)

SZ Enterprises, LLC v. Iowa Utils. Bd., 850 N.W.2d 441 (Iowa 2014)

Thoms v. Iowa Pub. Emples. Ret. Sys., 715 N.W.2d 7 (Iowa 2006)

Statutes

IOWA CODE§ 4.1(38)

IOWA CODE § 4.4(2)

IOWA CODE § 4.4(3)

IOWA CODE § 4.6(1)

IOWA CODE § 4.6(5)

IOWA CODE § 17A.13

IOWA CODE § 17A.14

IOWA CODE § 17A.19(10)(c)

IOWA CODE § 17A.19(11)
IOWA CODE § 476.6(19)

IOWA CODE § 476.8(1)

Iowa Utilities Board Filings

In re MidAmerican Energy Company, RPU-2013-0004, Order Approving Settlement, with Modifications, and Requiring Additional Information (filed Mar. 17, 2014)

In re Interstate Power and Light Company, docket no. RPU-2019-0001, Final Order and Decision (filed Mar. 17, 2014)

Other Authorities

Arthur Earl Bonfield, Amendments to Iowa Administrative Procedure Act, Report on Selected Provisions to Iowa State Bar Association and Iowa State Government (1998)

United States v. Interstate Power and Light Co., Case no. C15-0061 (N.D. Iowa 2015)

Webster's Third New International Dictionary (unabr. ed. 2002)

2. Whether the District Court Erred in Affirming the Iowa Utilities Board's New Statutory Interpretation Because the Board Failed to Indicate a Fair and Rational Basis for Departing From the Board's Prior Interpretation of the Statute.

Cases

Finch v. Schneider Specialized Carriers, Inc., 700 N.W.2d 328 (Iowa 2005)

Hawkeye Land Co. v. Iowa Utilities Bd., 847 N.W.2d 199 (Iowa 2014)

Off. of Consumer Advoc. v. Iowa Utils. Bd., 770 N.W.2d 334 (Iowa 2009)

Swift Pork Co. v. Emp. Appeal Bd., No. 20 00-40, 2020 WL 7383497 (Iowa Ct. App. 2020)

Statutes

IOWA CODE § 17A.19(10)

Iowa Utilities Board Filings

- In Re: MidAmerican Energy Company, Docket No. EPB-2014-0156, Order Addressing Completeness of Emissions Filing and Approving Partial Settlement
- In re: Interstate Power & Light, Docket No. EPB-2016-0150, Supplemental Testimony of Terry A. Kouba, at 4 (filed Apr. 11, 2017)
- In re: Interstate Power & Light, Docket No. EPB-2016-0150, Baer Direct Testimony (filed Apr. 27, 2017)
- In re: Interstate Power & Light, Docket No. EPB-2016-0150, Joint Motion and Settlement Agreement (filed May 11, 2017)
- In re: Interstate Power & Light, Docket No. EPB-2016-0150, Order Approving Joint Motion, Settlement Agreement and Emissions Plan Update and Cancelling Hearing (filed May 16, 2017)
- In Re: MidAmerican Energy Company, Docket No. EPB-2016-0156, Direct Testimony of Jennifer A. McIvor (filed Apr. 1, 2016)
- *In Re: MidAmerican Energy Company*, Docket No. EPB-2016-0156, Direct Testimony of Nathaniel Baer (filed May 2, 2017)

- In Re: MidAmerican Energy Company, Docket No. EPB-2016-0156, Order Granting Motion to Cancel Hearing and Approving Emissions Plan Update (June 9, 2017)
- *In Re: MidAmerican Energy Company*, Docket No. EPB-2018-0156, Direct Testimony of Jennifer A. McIvor (filed Apr. 2, 2018)
- *In re: Interstate Power and Light Company*, Docket No. EPB-2020-0150, Joint Motion and Settlement (filed June 17, 2021)
- In re: Interstate Power & Light Company, Docket No. EPB-2020-0150, Order Approving Emissions Plan and Budget Update, Approving Settlement Agreement, and Granting Confidential Treatment (filed Aug. 5, 2021)

Other Authorities

Arthur Earl Bonfield, Amendments to Iowa Administrative Procedure Act, Report on Selected Provisions to Iowa State Bar Association and Iowa State Government (1998)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this case as it presents an issue of first impression as to the scope and meaning of Iowa Code § 476.6(19). Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). Further, the Iowa Utilities Board approves Emission Plan and Budget updates every two years and continued delay in resolution of this matter will impact multiple plan updates making this a matter requiring prompt resolution by the Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Coal-fired power plants must comply with stringent federal ambient air quality standards and state environmental regulations. To ensure that public utilities cost-effectively manage compliance with these standards and do not incur unnecessary or imprudent compliance costs paid by customers, the Iowa legislature requires rate-regulated public utilities who own one or more coal-fired power plants to "develop a multiyear plan and budget for managing regulated emissions from its facilities in a cost-effective manner" and submit that plan and regular updates for the Iowa Utilities Board (Board) to review in contested case proceedings. Iowa Code § 476.6(19)(a). Iowa's rate-regulated utilities have filed these Emission Plan and Budget (EPB) dockets every two years since 2002. *Id.* at § 476.6(19)(a)(1).

In MidAmerican Energy Company's (MidAmerican) 2020 EPB update, the Environmental Law and Policy Center (ELPC), Iowa Environmental Council (IEC), and Sierra Club (collectively Environmental Parties) presented extensive evidence that the most cost-effective way to comply with ongoing environmental compliance obligations was to retire (that is, cease operating) two of MidAmerican's existing coal units. (Appendix (App.) 90-290.) The Office of Consumer Advocate (OCA) similarly filed testimony disputing that MidAmerican's plan was reasonably expected to achieve cost-effective

compliance and that alternatives such as facility retirements and fuel switching should be considered. (App. 73-84.)

The Board never considered Environmental Parties' and OCA's evidence during the EPB proceeding. (App. 472-84.) Instead, the Board interpreted the scope of the EPB statute narrowly to exclude Environmental Parties' evidence from consideration, thereby approving MidAmerican's EPB as originally filed. (App. 480.) Environmental Parties filed a petition for judicial review (App. 540-557), and the District Court affirmed the Board's new statutory interpretation. (App. 717-31.) The Board's new interpretation did not apply principles of statutory construction, ignored the plain meaning of the statute, did not give effect to important parts of the statute, undermined the purpose of the statute, and was inconsistent with the Board's past interpretation of the statute. This Court should reverse the Board's novel erroneous interpretation of law that narrowed the scope of the statute and the District Court's affirmation of that order and remand to the Board.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. MidAmerican's 2020 EPB Filing

MidAmerican filed its 2020 EPB with the Board on April 1, 2020. MidAmerican's 2020 EPB filing requested approval for operations and maintenance (O&M) expenditures associated with air emissions controls at the following coal-fueled power plants: Walter Scott, Jr. Energy Center Unit 3, George Neal Energy Center (Neal) Unit 3, Neal Unit 4 and Louisa Generating Station. MidAmerican also reported its share of the costs associated with emissions reduction measures at the Ottumwa Generating Station, which it co-owns with the Interstate Power and Light Company. (App. 10, 12-15.)

MidAmerican's EPB described the O&M costs of pollution control equipment. (App. 10.) MidAmerican's filing did not discuss any alternative compliance options that would be equally or more effective at complying with emissions limitations, such as coal unit retirement. (*See* App. 8-20.) The EPB also did not explain, in any detail, why the proposed compliance plan was "cost-effective" or why it "reasonably balance[d] costs, environmental requirements, economic development potential, and the reliability of the electric generation and transmission system," as required by § 476.6(19)(c) of the Iowa Code. (*Id.*) The 2020 EPB Update included just half a page to address

both the economic development potential and the reliability of the generation and transmission systems. (App. 13.)

Environmental Parties, Google, and Facebook intervened in the proceeding, and the OCA was a party of right. During discovery, MidAmerican actively resisted other parties' requests to understand how it may have assessed or balanced the statutory factors. (App. 86-89; 287-90.) OCA specifically requested information related to the potential to pause operation of coal plants. OCA also requested information about the economic development potential related to emissions reduction efforts, comparing economic benefits from installing emissions controls to building alternative sources of generation, and economic impacts from retiring coal plants. (App. 86-89.) Environmental Parties requested information regarding the cost-effectiveness of and need for the coal plants. (App. 287-90.) MidAmerican objected in whole or in part to all of these requests.

Environmental Parties submitted testimony from David B. Posner and Steven C. Guyer demonstrating that the retirement of Neal Unit 3 and Neal Unit 4 represented a more cost-effective strategy for managing emissions from the facilities to meet the state and federal environmental requirements. (App. 90-290.)

Witness Posner, an energy finance expert, analyzed the cost of continued operation of MidAmerican's coal plants and the emissions controls as proposed by MidAmerican. He compared the cost of operating the coal plants with their controls to the cost of retiring them and replacing them with renewable energy. He showed that "Neal Unit 3 and Neal Unit 4 have been uneconomic to operate for several years." (App. 101.) Further, his testimony demonstrated that the cost of MidAmerican's proposed strategy for managing emissions exceeds the cost of reasonable alternatives – customers could save money in the long-term and in the short-term if MidAmerican retired Neal Unit 3 and Neal Unit 4. (App. pp. 101-03, 112-14.)

Witness Posner also addressed the implications of the coal plant retirement compliance option for grid reliability, a statutory factor, and concluded that MidAmerican has enough excess capacity to retire Neal Unit 4 without having to replace it with any new generation. (App. 115-16.) He modeled a retire-and-replace scenario with replacement wind generation, concluding that this extra capacity indicates that reliability would not be a problem.

Witness Guyer, an energy and climate policy specialist, explained that the coal plant retirement option is cost-effective while also in compliance with applicable state and federal air emission regulations. Echoing MidAmerican's testimony in the 2014 EPB proceeding that supported retirements of different coal plants, Guyer noted that eliminating emissions from the Neal units is an accepted emissions management strategy under state and federal law. (App. 92.) He explained how retirement of the Neal units would eliminate their emissions regulated under the Clean Air Act, thereby increasing the air emissions available for other economic development. (*Id.*) He further explained that it is cost-effective to retire Neal 3 and Neal 4 and urged the Board not to approve costs associated with these units. (App. 94-96.)

Witness Guyer also provided evidence that additional wind generation – which could replace retiring coal plants – brings economic development benefits that include additional tax base, direct payments to landowners, attracting new businesses, payroll and supply chain revenue, permanent local jobs, and increased local spending. (App. 325-26.)

The Office of Consumer Advocate (OCA) witness Scott C. Bents criticized MidAmerican's "narrow focus on emissions controls equipment" and stated that the EPB should consider "alternative compliance options." (App. 75.) Mr. Bents pointed out that in past EPB dockets MidAmerican had selected coal-plant retirements and natural gas fuel source conversion as least cost compliance options. (App. 77.) He further explained that MidAmerican "has not shown that it made any attempt at all to balance [the four statutory]

criteria." (App. 81.) A witness for Google and Facebook added that MidAmerican's "evidence relating to the need for and cost-effectiveness of the emissions plan and its impact on the reliability of the generation and transmission system is sparse." (App. 376.)

MidAmerican did not rebut the cost analysis presented by Environmental Parties' witnesses and did not contest the experts' conclusion that retirement of the Neal units would be more cost effective than continuing to operate them. As a result, unrebutted evidence demonstrated that retirement is the more cost-effective strategy to manage regulated emissions from the facilities in compliance with state and federal environmental requirements, while also providing stronger economic development opportunities and maintaining reliability at least as well as status quo operation of pollution control equipment. (App. 75-76, 94-96, 101-03.)

In its Reply Testimony, MidAmerican argued the evidence presented by the Environmental Parties and OCA should not be considered, claiming that retirement—an option that was an important part of MidAmerican's EPB plan in previous years—is not an emissions management strategy within the meaning of section 476.6(19). (App. 299-300.) MidAmerican contended – in direct contravention of its position in prior dockets – that consideration of coal plant retirements is not appropriate in an EPB docket. (App. 294.)

MidAmerican also asserted that it would be "unreasonable to withhold approval" for continued operation of existing pollution control equipment because the initial installation of those controls had been approved in a prior docket. (App. 301.)

Responding to MidAmerican's objections, Witness Posner clarified that his testimony was not challenging the prudency of the *initial* capital expenditures that the Board had previously approved. (App. 313.) Instead, his analysis showed that the costs of *continuing* to operate and maintain the coal plants with their existing emissions controls were higher than the costs of reasonable alternatives. (Id.) Witnesses Posner and Guyer then presented further evidence that future operation of pre-existing controls is not costeffective. Witness Guyer further noted that, if (as MidAmerican stated in its update) economic development potential came from simply reducing emissions, then there would be an even greater economic benefit from eliminating emissions entirely. (App. 327.) He also pointed out that MidAmerican itself has repeatedly acknowledged that renewable energy, the replacement option for retiring coal units under the analysis, has significant economic development potential. (App. 325-26.)

On February 4, 2021, MidAmerican and the Office of Consumer Advocate filed a Joint Motion and Non-Unanimous Settlement Agreement

(Proposed Settlement) pursuant to 199 Iowa Admin. Code § 7.18. (App. 396-401.) The Proposed Settlement agreed to review coal unit retirement and other enumerated alternatives outside of the EPB proceeding. It stated that the purpose of the separate review would be "to demonstrate how MidAmerican is managing its current generation resources and how it is planning for new resources in a manner that are cost-effective" (App. 400.)

Environmental Parties objected to the non-unanimous settlement on the grounds that it did not meet minimum statutory requirements, and suggested modifications. (App. 402-28.) They explained that the Proposed Settlement was inconsistent with Iowa Code § 476.6(19) because it did not require MidAmerican to satisfy the requirements of the EPB statute within a contested-case docket. (App. 405, 413-14.) Instead, the settlement would address those requirements in a separate, non-contested docket lacking procedures such as discovery. (App. 416.) This would frustrate the statutory purpose of opening emissions planning to public scrutiny, and giving parties the opportunity to contest the utility's assumptions, analysis, and actions. (App. 415-16.) Environmental Parties' comments further explained that the proposed settlement would effectively exempt MidAmerican from the costeffectiveness analysis in all future EPB dockets. (App. 405.)

B. The Board's Decision

On March 16, 2021, the Board initially responded to the Proposed Settlement by establishing a hearing and briefing schedule. (App. 459-66.) The parties submitted a Joint Statement of Issues on March 19, 2021, which indicated that all parties agreed that the reasonableness of the settlement was at issue. (App. 468.) In addition, it stated that Environmental Parties disputed issues identified in the record regarding the retirement of the Neal plants and the adequacy of the MidAmerican's evidence. (App. 469-70.)

However, on March 24, 2021—one week before the scheduled date of the hearing—the Board rejected the proposed settlement and approved the *original* EPB update proposed by MidAmerican in its entirety. (App. 472-84.) The Board held that any evaluation of alternative emissions management options is outside of the scope of the statute. (App. 480.)

The Board declined to consider the Environmental Parties' testimony as well as the OCA testimony filed in opposition to the 2020 EPB Update despite established practice in previous EPB proceedings of evaluating and adopting coal unit retirement as a compliance option within the statute. (App. 480.) Nevertheless, the Board admitted all parties' filings into the record. (App. 481.) Because the Board refused to consider the testimony presented by Environmental Parties and OCA, the Board concluded that there were no

material facts in dispute and summarily approved MidAmerican's update. (App. 480-81.)

On April 13, 2021, Environmental Parties filed an Application for Reconsideration pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.16(2) and 199 Iowa Admin. Code § 7.27(1). (App. 485-505.) Environmental Parties noted that the Board was incorrect in finding that prior EPB proceedings had not raised coal plant retirements as an emissions compliance strategy. (App. 493-97.) Environmental Parties specifically highlighted the multiple examples of past EPB dockets where coal unit retirement or other compliance options had been considered as part the emission management strategy. (*Id.*) This included MidAmerican dockets EPB-2014-0156, EPB-2016-0156, and EPB-2018-0156, and Interstate Power & Light docket EPB-2016-0150. (*Id.*) In those dockets, the Board had approved coal plant retirements as compliance strategy and did not reject them as outside the scope of the EPB statute.

OCA filed a separate Motion for Rehearing and Reconsideration. (App. 506-512.)In its May 13, 2021 Order, the Board stood by its prior assertion that alternative compliance options such as retirement had not been considered in previous EPB dockets. (App. 535 ("The Board stated in its March 24, 2021 Order Approving 2020 EPB that these issues have not been raised in previous EPB dockets, and the EPBs in those dockets were found to comply with the

statute.").) The Board did not provide a basis for this assertion or explain how the assertion could be squared with the fact multiple other EPB dockets in which the Board approved or considered coal plant retirements as appropriate compliance options. (App. 323-25, 493-97.) The Board also claimed that there was no disputed fact about whether MidAmerican's plan reasonably balanced environmental requirements, costs, economic development potential, and the reliability of the electric generation and transmission system. (App. 537.) The Board was only able to make such a statement by erroneously excluding consideration of Environmental Parties' testimony as outside of the scope of the docket.

C. The District Court Decision Below

Following the Board's May 13, 2021 Order, Environmental Parties brought a petition for judicial review of the Board's Orders approving MidAmerican's 2020 EPB Update and denying Environmental Parties' motion for reconsideration. (App. 540-57.) Before the district court, Environmental Parties argued that the Board's novel interpretation of Iowa Code § 476.6(19), which reduced the scope of the statute to only the question of whether the existing pollution controls complied with environmental law and excluded consideration of all other alternative compliance options, including coal retirement, was incorrect as a matter of law.

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