**IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT**

---

**NO. 22-0385**

---

**ENVIRONMENTAL LAW AND POLICY  
CENTER, IOWA ENVIRONMENTAL  
COUNCIL and SIERRA CLUB,  
Petitioners-Appellants,**

**vs.**

**IOWA UTILITIES BOARD,  
Respondent-Appellee,**

**and**

**MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY,  
Intervenor-Appellees,**

**and**

**OFFICE OF CONSUMER ADVOCATE  
Intervenor.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY  
HONORABLE SAMANTHA GRONEWALD, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT**

---

**Mr. Jon Tack (AT0007738)  
Ms. Kim Snitker (AT0007336)  
Mr. Matthew Oetker (AT0005843)  
IOWA UTILITIES BOARD  
1375 E. Court Avenue  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
Telephone: 515-725-7300

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

The Board must interpret Iowa Code § 476.6(19) to carry out its duties to review MidAmerican’s EPB filing as a practical matter and to fulfill the Board’s statutory responsibilities. The Board suggests that the Legislature clearly vested the Board with the authority to interpret Iowa Code § 476.6, as

well as Iowa Code § 476.6(19), and that this Court should defer to the Board’s ruling unless the Court finds the ruling irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable. Iowa Code §§ 17A.19(10)(c), (n). Alternatively, if the Court finds that the Legislature did not vest the Board with the authority to interpret phrases in Iowa Code § 476.6(19), the Court should still affirm the Board’s decision on a review of correction of errors at law as the Board properly applied the statutory requirements.

The Board concludes this argument by emphasizing that the phrase “reasonably expected to achieve cost-effective compliance with applicable state environmental requirements and federal ambient air quality standards” found in Iowa Code § 476.6(19) requires the Board to consider whether the update “reasonably balance(s) costs, environmental requirements, economic development potential, and the reliability of the electric generation and transmission system.” Iowa Code § 476.6(19)(c). The statute does not require the Board to give equal weight to all components. The Board is to balance the required statutory components of the plan to ensure the plan complies with state environmental requirements and federal ambient air quality standards.

*Id.*

The Environmental Parties assert in their brief that the Board cannot make a reasonable determination of cost effectiveness without considering

other strategies submitted by the parties in an EPB docket and the “reasonably balance” language would be irrelevant. Env. Brief pp. 41-43; (App. pp. 675-676; 10/8/21 Transcript pp. 6-7). The Board found, and the district court affirmed, that MidAmerican’s EPB was cost effective when the Board “determined that the capital expenditure and O&M [Operating and Maintenance] expenses information contained in MidAmerican’s EPB was cost effective and complied with the requirements of the statute.” (App. pp. 727; 12/7/21 Ruling p. 11).

The Environmental Parties’ argument should be rejected. The Board adequately and reasonably balanced the statutory components in its March 24, 2021 order approving MidAmerican’s 2020 EPB.

## **II. The Iowa Utilities Board’s Conclusion that Consideration of Coal Requirements and Other Compliance Alternatives are Outside the Scope of Iowa Code § 476.6(19) is Consistent with Past Board Practice and Precedent.**

### **A. Issue Preservation**

Before the agency and the district court, the Environmental Parties raised their claims that the Board erred in approving MidAmerican’s EPB and finding that other issues were beyond the scope of the statutorily defined

docket. Therefore, this issue appears to have been preserved. *See Strand*, 648 N.W.2d at 100 (stating issues must be presented and decided by the agency and the district court to satisfy preservation requirements).

### **B. Standard of Review**

Allegations that an agency's actions should be reversed pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(h) because the agency failed to follow its prior practice or precedent are reviewed under the unreasonable, arbitrary, capricious, or abuse of discretion standard. *Off. of Consumer Advocate v. Iowa Utils. Bd.*, 770 N.W.2d 334, 341 (Iowa 2009) (citing *Finch v. Schneider Specialized Carriers, Inc.*, 700 N.W.2d 328, 332 (Iowa 2005)) (quoting Arthur Earl Bonfield, *Amendments to Iowa Administrative Procedure Act, Report on Selected Provisions* at 69 (1998)).

### **C. Argument**

The Board's March 24, 2021 Order Approving 2020 EPB determined that the Environmental Parties and OCA's requests for further analysis of other items, including retirement of coal plants and least-cost options for emissions controls, fell outside the scope of the EPB proceeding and Iowa Code § 476.6(19). (App. pp. 479-481; CR pp. 986-988). Because the Board found the Environmental Parties and OCA's concerns appropriate for further consideration even if not relevant to the review of the EPB, the Board opened

Docket No. SPU-2021-0003 to evaluate the reasonableness and prudence of MidAmerican's procurement and contracting practices related to the acquisition of fuel for use in generating electricity pursuant to Iowa Code § 476.6(12), to address a forecast of future gas requirements or electric generating needs pursuant to Iowa Code § 476.6(16), and other resource adequacy issues of MidAmerican. *Id.*

This order also identified that the Board would use SPU-2021-0003 to consider all issues raised by the Environmental Parties and OCA that were found to be outside the scope of the EPB statute, which included a review of MidAmerican's plan for meeting its generation requirements, and the retirement of coal generating facilities. The Board's order recognized that Iowa Code § 476.6(19) was intended to provide for consideration of an electric utility's generation compliance with state and federal emissions and clean air regulations, not the utility's generation resource plan. The Board's order stated that Docket No. SPU-2021-0003 would allow interested parties to present plans and would include discussion of least-cost options for generation, environmental requirements, reliability, baseload generation, and economic development potential. (App. pp. 482-484; CR pp. 989-991).

In its December 7, 2021 Ruling, the district court agreed with the Board that evidence of least-cost options for emissions controls was not appropriate



for the EPB proceeding, no remaining material facts were in dispute and thus no hearing was required, and MidAmerican was not required to provide or consider other parties' least cost alternatives assessing the retirement of coal facilities, as part of the analysis of balancing the factors outlined in Iowa Code § 476.6(10)(c). (App. pp. 725-726; 12/7/21 Ruling pp. 9-10). Additionally, with regard to the Board's statements that it had not previously analyzed the retirement of coal facilities when balancing the factors outlined in section 476.6(10)(c) issues (See footnotes 7 and 8 below), the district court did "agree MidAmerican did offer such evidence" in its previous EPB dockets and elaborated that "nothing in the plain text of the statute that required MidAmerican to do so. The fact that MidAmerican voluntarily provided such information in the past does not in any way make it a statutory requirement or a compulsory practice in all EPB reviews." (App. p. 725; 12/7/21 Ruling p. 9).

In its Appellee Brief for Petition for Judicial Review ("district court brief"), the Board extensively detailed several previous MidAmerican EPB dockets and the Environmental Parties (if they were intervenors) and OCA's participation in those dockets. (App. pp. 623-629; IUB Brief Judicial Review pp. 11-17). The Environmental Parties agreed that MidAmerican's 2014, 2016, and 2018 EPB Plans, including MidAmerican's Electric Power

Generation Facility Budget Update, were satisfactory with these plans ultimately being approved by the Board. Env. Brief pp. 53-62; (App. pp. 623-629; IUB Brief Judicial Review pp. 11-17). The plans contained undisputed language that the proposed Economic Development, Transmission System Reliability, and Generation System Reliability were appropriate. See also additional arguments above that no parties disputed the accuracy of MidAmerican's capital expenditure and O&M information for continuing to operate existing pollution controls at its coal plants in the 2020 EPB docket. (App. pp. 481, 645-646, 727; CR pg. 988; IUB Brief Upon Judicial Review pp. 33-34; 12/7/21 Ruling p. 11).

In its district court brief, the Board addressed the Environmental Parties' argument that the Board erred when it stated that reasonable alternatives for emissions compliance "were not raised" in previous EPB dockets and the evidence filed by the Environmental Parties and OCA addressing these other options were outside the scope of an EPB proceeding.

Env. Brief, p. 14; (App. pp. 480, 535-536; CR pp. 987<sup>7</sup>, 1050-51<sup>8</sup>). The Board replied that its precedent demonstrates the Board has not required Interstate Power and Light Company (IPL) nor MidAmerican to review multiple options in its EPB dockets, either presented by the utility itself or provided by other parties, before the Board determined if the plan's filings, including testimony, meet statutory requirements. (App. pp. 623-629; IUB Brief Judicial Review pp. 11-17). It is true that prior Board orders have approved EPB plans in which a utility has included a coal plant retirement or alternative compliance

---

7. "OCA and the other intervenors argued that MidAmerican should be required to look at multiple options, including retirement of coal facilities, as part of the analysis of the balancing factors outlined in Iowa Code § 476.6(19)(c). These issues have not been raised in previous EPB dockets, and the EPBs in those dockets were found to be in compliance with the statute. Based upon the specific requirements in the statute which address compliance with state and federal emissions regulations and the approval of EPBs in previous dockets, the Board finds that the evidence addressing other options, filed by OCA and the intervenors, is outside the scope of an EPB proceeding under Iowa Code § 476.6(19)." (App. p. 480; CR p. 987).

8. "Both the Environmental Parties and OCA identified valid concerns, and the Board agreed that these concerns deserve further attention. The Board stated in its March 24, 2021 Order Approving 2020 EPB that these issues have not been raised in previous EPB dockets, and the EPBs in those dockets were found to comply with the statute. Based upon the specific requirements in the statute that address compliance with state and federal emissions regulations and the approval of EPBs in previous dockets, the Board found that the evidence filed by OCA and the Environmental Intervenors addressing these other options was outside the scope of an EPB proceeding." (App. pp. 535-536; CR pp. 1050-51).

options as a cost-effective business decision reflected in its EPB filing. (App. p. 624; IUB Brief Judicial Review p. 12).

The Environmental Parties argue that “the Board’s Order in the MidAmerican 2020 EPB Update was an unjustifiable change in the Board’s statutory interpretation that requires reversal under Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(h).” Env. Brief p. 52. The Board has addressed many of the previous dockets in its district court brief. (App. pp. 625-629; IUB Brief Judicial Review pp. 13-17). However, the Board will briefly address some arguments made before this Court.

The Environmental Parties state that as part of an EPB update in 2014, a MidAmerican witness testified that MidAmerican would transition away from coal burning in select electric generating stations. Env. Brief pp. 53-54; (App. pp. 324, 493-496; CR pp. 754, 1000-1003). The Board approved this plan as part of a partial settlement with this testimony contained within an exhibit attached to the settlement. Env. Brief pp. 53-54; *In Re: MidAmerican Energy Company*, Docket No. EPB-2014-0156, 2015 WL 1155934, at \*5 (Iowa U.B. Mar. 12, 2015). In 2016 and 2018, MidAmerican also filed, as part of its EPB plan, an explanation that it was choosing to retire select coal burning electric generating units as stated in part of its witness testimony. Env. Brief p. 55; *In Re: MidAmerican Energy Company*, Docket No. EPB-

2016-0156, Direct Testimony of Jennifer A. McIvor, at \*5 (Iowa U.B. Apr. 1, 2016); *see also In Re: MidAmerican Energy Company*, Docket No. EPB-2018-0156, Direct Testimony of Jennifer A. McIvor, at \*4 (Iowa U.B. Apr. 2, 2018).

Note that these past dockets all involve one witness providing testimony about MidAmerican's EPB. The Environmental Parties transform this inclusion of information into a required discussion about alternative compliance options (either produced by the utility or other parties) in every EPB docket. This does not reflect the Board's precedent or align with the statute's requirements as Iowa Code does not require an investor-owned utility to produce multiple compliance options. Iowa Code § 476.6(19).

The Environmental Parties cite to Docket No. EPB-2016-0150 regarding a settlement involving IPL. The Environmental Parties state:

The Board did not conclude, as it did here, that retirement was "outside the scope of an EPB proceeding." The Board in approving the settlement noted that "the record shows that IPL ***considered other alternatives*** but determined that utilization of the SCR would be more cost effective than either retiring the plant or converting it to an alternate fuel such as natural gas." *In re: Interstate Power & Light*, Docket No. EPB-2016-0150, Order Approving Joint Motion, Settlement Agreement and Emissions Plan Update and Canceling Hearing, at 5 (filed May 16, 2017).

(Env. Brief p. 58) (emphasis original).

However, the Environmental Parties take this quotation out of context. IPL filed testimony about one contested issue in that case: the installation of a selective catalytic reduction system (SCR) in an electric generating unit, and some parties objected. *In re: Interstate Power & Light Co.*, Docket No. EPB-2016-0150, 2017 WL 2214550 at \*3 (Iowa U.B. May 16, 2017). IPL submitted testimony that it considered alternatives but concluded the installation of the SCR was the most cost-efficient option while allowing for environmental compliance. *Id.* The Board ultimately approved IPL's unanimous settlement upon being provided details that the settlement included the SCR plan which furthered compliance with Iowa Code § 476.6(20). *Id.* at \*3-4.

In the 2016 IPL case, the Board never asked for information about alternative options. *Id.* at \*3. Alternative options were offered by IPL. The Board never determined that other parties could submit alternative plans that IPL had to consider; IPL made the decision to consider the alternative options and submit them to the Board. *Id.* The utility's initiative to work with other parties to resolve a disputed issue does not translate to a statutory mandate that the Board requires a utility to consider alternative options upon demand from one party. Parties may settle disputes and the Board will review to ensure that settlement is reasonable and follows the law.

There is nothing “new” or “novel” with the Board’s interpretation of the EPB statute as suggested by the Environmental Parties. Env. Brief p. 30. The Board reviews the filing and assesses the parties’ arguments. The Board has not required alternatives to be considered before settlement or approval. Board precedent reflects the Board has never required IPL nor MidAmerican to review multiple options in its EPB dockets before the Board determines whether the plan’s filings meet statutory requirements.

As discussed above, the Board has approved EPB plans in which a utility has voluntarily included information pertaining to a coal plant retirement or alternative compliance options as a cost-effective business decision. The Board has never required this testimony or allowed others to submit testimony about alternative options. The district court rightly held that “[a]ccordingly, the Court concludes the IUB did not err in determining it was not required to address evidence regarding least-cost options for emissions controls and thus the evidence of such filed by Petitioners and OCA was outside the scope of an EPB proceeding.” (App. p. 726; 12/7/21 Ruling p. 10).

The Board followed its precedent in MidAmerican’s 2020 EPB docket when it did not require alternative compliance options to be made in an EPB docket. The Court should reject the Environmental Parties’ arguments.

### **III. The District Court did not Err When It Found the Iowa Utilities Board’s Ruling Approving MidAmerican’s 2020 Emissions Plan and Budget is Supported by Substantial Evidence in the Record.**

#### **A. Issue Preservation**

Before the agency and the district court, the Environmental Parties raised their claims that the Board erred in approving MidAmerican’s EPB and finding that there was substantial evidence in the record to support the Board’s approval of MidAmerican’s EPB filing. However, no substantial evidence argument is made and there is no reference to Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(f) regarding substantial evidence in their initial brief. This issue has not been preserved and the Board details its argument below.

#### **B. Standard of Review**

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